COURT OF APPEALS STANDING COMMITTEE

ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE

Minutes of a meeting of the Rules Committee held in Rooms UL 4 and 5 of the Judicial Education and Conference Center, 2011 Commerce Park Drive, Annapolis, Maryland on June 20, 2019.

Members present:

Hon. Alan M. Wilner, Chair

Kenneth Armstrong, Esq. Robert R. Bowie, Jr., Esq. Hon. Yvette M. Bryant James E. Carbine, Esq. Hon. John P. Davey Mary Anne Day, Esq. Del. Kathleen Dumais Hon. Angela M. Eaves Alvin I. Frederick, Esq. Pamela Q. Harris, SCA Dawne D. Lindsey, Clerk Bruce L. Marcus, Esq. Donna Ellen McBride, Esq. Hon. Douglas R. M. Nazarian Hon. Paula A. Price Steven M. Sullivan, Esq. Hon. Dorothy J. Wilson

In attendance:

Sandra F. Haines, Esq., Reporter Colby L. Schmidt, Esq., Deputy Reporter Shantell K. Davenport, Esq., Assistant Reporter Hon. Matthew Fader, Chief Judge, Court of Special Appeals Hon. Alison Asti, Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County Nisa C. Subasinghe, Esq., Juvenile and Family Services, Administrative Office of the Courts Justin Bernstein, Senior Researcher, Research and Analysis Gillian Tonkin, Esq., Staff Attorney, District Court Cheif Clerk's Office Marjorie Corwin, Esq., Gordon Feinblatt, LLC Andrea Parks, Trust Clerk Supervisor, Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County Thomas B. Stahl, Esq., Spencer & Stahl, P.C.

The Chair convened the meeting. He announced that the terms of six members of the Rules Committee expire at the end of

the month. Three of those six members are eligible to be appointed to serve an additional term. The other three members - Mr. Carbine, Mr. Bowie, and Mr. Sullivan - will be leaving the Rules Committee. The Chair said that Mr. Carbine, Mr. Bowie, and Mr. Sullivan will be greatly missed and thanked each of them for their service. He noted that Mr. Carbine is somewhat the "father of MDEC" and, along with Bob Klein, was instrumental in the launch of the system.

The Chair informed the Committee that the Court of Appeals is aware of the expiration of certain members' terms and the vacancies created by the departures of Mr. Carbine, Mr. Bowie, and Mr. Sullivan. He said that the Court held a conference the previous day. The Committee will be informed about any reappointment of eligible members and the appointment of new members soon.

The Chair informed the Committee that a previously recommended amendment to Rule 2-231 eliminating the defendant class device in civil actions was adopted by the Court of Appeals, effective June 1, 2019. There was opposition to that change expressed at the Court of Appeals's open meeting. The Chair explained that when the Rules Committee was considering whether to recommend elimination of the defendant class device, there was only one defendant class action case pending in Maryland. A few days before the Court of Appeals's open

meeting, another defendant class action case filed in Baltimore City was discovered. The Chair said that the Court decided to adopt the Committee's recommendation because, in general, there is a paucity of defendant class actions in Maryland. He stated that the Court directed Rules Committee staff to conduct a study on how defendant class actions are handled in federal courts and in other state courts. At some point, the Committee will have a comprehensive review of how defendant class actions are handled across the country, including any issues that have arisen. Once that review is complete, the information will be presented to the Rules Committee and then to the Court of Appeals. At that point, the Court can decide whether to revive the defendant class device by Rule.

Agenda Item 1. Consideration of proposed amendments to Rule 16-907 (Case Records - Required Denial of Inspection - Certain Categories).

The Reporter presented Rule 16-905, Case Records - Required denial of Inspection - Certain Categories, for consideration.

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 16 - COURT ADMINISTRATION CHAPTER 900 - ACCESS TO JUDICIAL RECORDS AMEND Rule 16-907 by exempting from section (f) certain docket entries and orders; by including in section (f) all other papers and submissions filed in guardianship actions and proceedings under Title 10, Chapters 200, 300, 400, or 700 of the Maryland Rules; and by adding a Committee note, as follows:

Rule 16-907 <u>16-913</u>. CASE RECORDS - REQUIRED DENIAL OF INSPECTION - CERTAIN CATEGORIES

• • •

(f) Except for docket entries and orders entered under Rule 10-108, Papers papers and submissions filed by a fiduciary or a guardian of the property of a minor or disabled person pursuant to in guardianship actions or proceedings under Title 10, Chapter 200, 300, 400, or 700 of the Maryland Rules that include financial information regarding the minor or disabled person.

Committee note: Most filings in guardianship actions are likely to be permeated with financial, medical, or psychological information regarding the minor or disabled person that ordinarily would be sealed or shielded under other Rules. Rather than require custodians to pore through those documents to redact that kind of information, this Rule shields the documents themselves subject to Rule 16-912, which permits the court, on a motion and for good cause, to permit inspection of case records that otherwise are not subject to inspection. There may be circumstances in which that should be allowed. The guardian, of course, will have access to the case records and may need to share some of them with third persons in order to perform his or her duties, and this Rule is not intended to impede the guardian from doing so. Public access to the docket entries and to orders entered under Rule 10-108 will allow

others to be informed of the guardianship and to seek additional access pursuant to Rule 16-912.

Source: This Rule is derived from former Rule 16-1006 (2016).

. . .

Rule 16-907 was accompanied by the following Reporter's note:

Amendments to Rule 16-907 are proposed in conjunction with amendments to Rules in Title 10 that were approved by the Rules Committee at its April 2019 meeting.

The Reporter said that for the past year or so, the Probate/Fiduciary Subcommittee and the Rules Committee have been working on changes to the Rules in Title 10 to improve the handling of guardianship cases in Maryland. The Subcommittee has received several recommendations for Rules changes from the Guardianship and Vulnerable Adult Workgroup ("the Workgroup"). The Workgroup is chaired by Senior Judge Karen Murphy Jensen and is part of the Judicial Council's Domestic Law Committee, which is chaired by Judge Cynthia Callahan. The Reporter explained that many of the Title 10 proposals were considered by the Rules Committee at the September 2018 meeting, included in the Committee's 198th Report, and adopted by the Court of Appeals, effective January 1, 2019. Additional Title 10 Rules were approved by the Rules Committee at the April 2019 meeting. She

said that the Rules in Agenda Items 1 and 2 attempt to provide the finishing touches to the implementation of the Workgroup's recommendations.

The Reporter said that Agenda Item 1 includes an amendment to current Rule 16-907. She noted that the meeting materials mistakenly label the Rule as 16-913. She said that the substance of the proposal was favorably received by the Probate/Fiduciary Subcommittee. Because Title 16 was involved, the Subcommittee referred the proposal to the General Court Administration Subcommittee. The General Court Administration Subcommittee is working on revisions to the Title 16, Chapter 900 Rules ("the Access Rules"). The Access Rules revision will not be ready for consideration by the Rules Committee until September 2019 at the earliest.

The Reporter noted that a June 3, 2019 email from Judge Jensen is included in the meeting materials. In that email, Judge Jensen requested that the amendment to Rule 16-907 be coordinated with the Title 10 Rule amendments to ensure that sensitive case information is not left available to the public. Under current Rule 16-907, Judge Jensen pointed out that the annual reports of guardians of the person are accessible by the public. If the amendments to Rule 10-206 are approved by the Court of Appeals before the amendments to Rule 16-907, then the annual reports would contain a greater amount of sensitive

personal information that would be accessible to the public. Allowing the public access to that information would result in a loss of privacy for the guardianship respondents.

The Reporter stated that the proposed amendment to Rule 16-907 was developed as a part of the proposed revised Access Rules. As amended, Rule 16-907 would permit access to information that members of the public may have an interest in knowing, such as docket entries and orders placing the individual under guardianship. However, all other information including sensitive personal information - would be shielded from public inspection. The shielded information could be subject to a motion to inspect the record, but the court has control over what, if any, information is released.

The Reporter said that if there are any questions regarding the proposed amendment, Nisa Subasinghe and Judge Alison L. Asti are present to answer questions. The Reporter said that the amendments to Rule 16-907 are not the result of a formal Subcommittee recommendation and would require a motion for approval. The Chair called for a motion to approve the amendments. A motion to approve Rule 16-907 was made and seconded. The Chair invited comments on the motion. By consensus, the Committee approved the Rule as presented.

Agenda Item 2. Consideration of proposed amendments to Rule 10-110 (Combination of Guardianship Petitions) and Rule 10-111 (Petition for Guardianship of Minor).

The Reporter presented Rule 10-110, Combination of Guardianship Petitions, for consideration.

HANDOUT

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 10 - GUARDIANSHIPS AND OTHER FIDUCIARIES

CHAPTER 100 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

AMEND Rule 10-110 by adding a requirement that a separate petition be filed for each alleged disabled person or each minor as to whom a guardianship is sought, with an exception for similarly situated full siblings who are minors, and by making stylistic changes, as follows:

Rule 10-110. COMBINATION OF GUARDIANSHIP PETITIONS

(a) Person and Property

A petition for the appointment of a guardian of the person of a minor or alleged disabled person <u>also</u> may also include a request for the appointment of a guardian of the person's property, and vice versa.

(b) Multiple Persons

(1) Alleged Disabled Persons

If guardianship of more than one alleged disabled person is sought, a separate petition shall be filed for each alleged disabled person. (2) Minors

If guardianship of more than one				
minor is sought, a separate petition shall				
be filed for each minor, except that a				
petition may include a request for				
guardianship of two or more similarly				
situated full siblings.				

Source: This Rule is derived <u>in part</u> from former Rule R71 a<u>, and is in part new</u>.

Rule 10-110 was accompanied by the following Reporter's

note:

The Department of Juvenile and Family Services of the Administrative Office of the Courts had been advised by the Court Operations Department that guardianship petitions naming more than one minor or more than one alleged disabled person are being filed, and that this practice causes docketing, indexing, and case management problems, especially in MDEC counties when the court reports guardianship case information to the FBI for use in the National Instant Criminal Background Check System (NICS). Based upon this advisement, the Rules Committee, at its April 2019 meeting, approved amendments to Rules 10-110, 10-111, and 10-112.

The NICS is a national system that checks available records on persons who may be disqualified from receiving firearms. See https://www.fbi.gov/services/cjis/nics/about -nics. The NICS provides information to Federal Firearms Licensees on whether the transfer of a firearm would violate 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) or (n). Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §922(g) (4), it is unlawful for any person "who has been adjudicated as a mental defective or who has been committed to a mental institution" to possess any firearm or ammunition. In MDEC counties, only the first name listed in the guardianship case caption appears in the case information report provided to the FBI. To address this problem, a proposed amendment to Rule 10-110 requires the filing of a separate petition for each alleged disabled person as to whom a guardianship is sought. A conforming amendment to the Instructions at the top of the form petition in Rule 10-112 also is proposed.

The Reporter said that Agenda Item 2 consists of amendments to Rules previously approved by the Rules Committee at the April 2019 meeting. The Rules, as approved, would have required that separate guardianship petitions for each alleged disabled person or minor be filed in guardianship cases. After the Committee approved amendments to Rules 10-110 and 10-111, Jamie Walter, the Director of the Court Information Office in the Administrative Office of the Court ("the AOC"), raised concerns in an email dated May 8, 2019 which is included in the materials. The Reporter said that handout versions of Rules 10-110 and 10-111 containing additional amendments were circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting.

The Reporter explained that separate petitions for adult guardianship cases are necessary to facilitate compliance with federal law. Judiciary employees from Anne Arundel County find it advisable to require a single guardianship petition for

similarly situated minor siblings to facilitate case management functions. Judge Asti and Andrea Parks, Guardianship Case Manager and Trust Supervisor at the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County, are present to explain the guardianship procedures in Anne Arundel County and answer any questions.

Judge Asti addressed the Committee. She said that she is pleased with the revised language drafted by the Rules Committee. She noted that under the revised Rule 10-110, more than one similarly situated minor child may be included in a single petition only if the minors are full siblings and not half-siblings. She said that guardianship of minor cases are very similar to custody proceedings. She informed the Committee that if the courts proceeded with custody cases in the way guardianship cases are handled in some jurisdictions, there could be a custody matter involving five minor siblings filed as five separate cases and heard separately by different judges.

Judge Asti acknowledged that there may be circumstances that warrant the filing of separate guardianship of a minor petition for full siblings. For example, if one parent had custody of one sibling and the other parent had custody of the other sibling and there is property at issue. However, there are few reasons, aside from the example presented, that would warrant the filing of separate guardianship of minor petitions for full siblings. She said that the Circuit Court for Anne

Arundel County requires that separate guardianship orders for each minor be issued. Each minor has his or her own independent existence. The Chair noted that the revisions presented today would not require a separate guardianship order for each minor, which is the current practice in Anne Arundel County. Judge Asti replied that Ms. Parks has researched the guardianship practices across jurisdictions and discovered that many of the larger counties exercise the same practice of issuing separate guardianship orders for each minor.

Ms. Parks addressed the Committee. She said that the benefit of issuing separate guardianship orders for each minor is that it allows for tracking in the Maryland Electronic Courts ("MDEC") Odyssy program of minors who remain under guardianship as older siblings reach the age of majority and age out of guardianship. The tracking abilities through Odyssey are different, depending on how the information is stored in the case file. Ms. Parks also said that she researched which jurisdictions require separate petitions and orders in guardianship cases involving siblings. She explained that many smaller jurisdictions indicated that they require separate petitions and orders. The larger jurisdictions follow the same practice as Anne Arundel County, which is to issue separate guardianship orders. Those jurisdictions also have the same

procedures for case management, scheduling hearings, and reviewing petitions.

The Chair asked Ms. Parks if she is aware of the guardianship case management process in the three jurisdictions that are not yet using the MDEC system. Ms. Parks responded that those jurisdictions have a guardianship case management process that is the same as in Anne Arundel County. The Chair then asked Ms. Parks whether those jurisdictions also allow for a single guardianship petition to be filed for multiple minors and separate guardianship orders issued for each minor. Ms. Parks responded that Montgomery County allows a single petition to be filed for multiple minors. However, the court issues a single guardianship order for multiple minor siblings.

The Chair invited further questions for Judge Asti and Ms. Parks or comments about the proposed Rule.

Jason Bernstein, a senior researcher with AOC's Court Operations Department, addressed the Committee. He said that there is an issue with the Reporter's note following Rule 10-110. He said that the portion that refers to an issue with, "docketing, indexing, and case management problems, especially in MDEC counties" is inaccurate. He clarified that there is no MDEC issue that is creating a problem with the federal reporting requirements. He explained that the MDEC system actually makes the reporting process much easier. The issue with the reporting

of guardianship cases involving adults with disabilities is that when multiple alleged disabled adults are listed in a single case, the report that is generated does not comply with the National Instant Criminal Background Check System reporting requirements. He added that Ms. Walter requested that the language in the Reporter's note be removed for accuracy purposes. The Chair stated that the Reporter's note will disappear from the Rule once the Rule is adopted by the Court, but it will be amended to reflect Mr. Bernstein's statement.

The Chair noted that Rule 10-110, as amended, does not require separate guardianship orders for each minor. Ms. Parks expressed her belief that other jurisdictions struggle with tracking multiple minors in one case because they are not aware of some of the features in Odyssey that make it easier to do. She explained that many jurisdictions reported to her that the biggest Odyssey issue they experience involves the postreporting component and tracking the cases when multiple minors are included in a single guardianship order. The Chair asked whether Ms. Parks would suggest that the Committee amend Rule 10-110 to require that a separate guardianship order for each minor be issued in guardianship cases. Ms. Parks replied that she does not believe an amendment to Rule 10-110 is necessary. She suggested that the issue could be addressed by communicating the solution to the guardianship departments from the other

jurisdictions. She said that she participates in a monthly phone call with all of her counterparts from the other jurisdictions, and the solution may be better addressed through education and training rather than a Rule amendment. The Reporter suggested that a Committee note could be added to Rule 10-110 stating that if there are multiple siblings in a guardianship case, the best practice is for the court to issue a separate order for each minor. The Chair asked whether there is an advantage, for tracking purposes, to having separate quardianship orders for minors and whether there should be a uniform process statewide for statistical purposes. Judge Asti responded that Rule 10-108 governs guardianship orders and uses the singular form of the word "order." She suggested a Committee note be added to Rule 10-108 stating there should be a separate order for each individual. Ms. Parks stated that she could see a benefit to requiring that a separate order be issued for each individual subject to a guardianship. She said that she found 41 quardianship cases in her files that included minors with multiple siblings.

The Reporter asked Mr. Bernstein to explain whether the different methods of counting cases across jurisdictions could affect statistical data. For example, if there is a single guardianship case that includes four minor siblings, how is Anne Arundel's system of counting cases comparable to another county

that separates each guardianship minor into four separate cases? Mr. Bernstein responded that the reported number of cases from a given jurisdiction depends on the unit of measurement being used. For example, one jurisdiction may count the number of cases, filed while another jurisdiction may count the number of individuals subject to the guardianship order. The Reporter noted that when the legislature decides whether to create additional judgeships in a given jurisdiction, often the number of cases handled in that jurisdiction is a determining factor. Mr. Bernstein responded that he believes the metric used by the AOC would be the number of cases, not the number of individuals under a guardianship.

The Chair commented that during the initial development of the MDEC system, an issue arose regarding how circuit courts compile data on case numbers. It was discovered that at least one county was reporting each legal issue in a divorce matter as a separate case. For example, if a divorce complaint raised issues of custody, marital award, and alimony, that county would report that four cases were being heard. A different court would report that same case as a single case with multiple requests for relief presented. He said that he does not want to create a similar case reporting inconsistency with guardianship cases. However, he acknowledged that it may be a good idea to require separate guardianship orders even when a single petition

is filed. There could be exceptions to that requirement if a judge finds a particular reason that warrants a single order to be issued.

The Chair called for further comments on the suggested to require courts to issue miltiple guardianship orders for siblings. Judge Eaves said that she thinks it makes sense to have separate guardianship orders for each minor, even where a single guardianship petition is filed. Having separate orders eliminates the need to amend a guardianship order when one minor is no longer subject to the guardianship. Ms. Harris stated that now that MDEC is rolling out state-wide, the AOC can develop policies and procedures for the clerk's offices on how to report the proper case counts. Currently, there is inconsistent case counting across jurisdictions. That inconsistency distorts the data used to allocate funds.

The Chair called for a motion on requiring a separate order be issued for each minor. Judge Price expressed her belief that the Rule should require a separate order for each minor. The Chair asked whether it makes a difference if the minor also happens to be disabled. Ms. Parks responded that if a minor who is disabled is placed under guardianship, once the minor turns 18, he or she is no longer subject to the guardianship of a minor order. A petition for guardianship of an alleged disabled person must be filed and physician certificates in support of

the petition must be filed. Most guardians in that situation begin to fill out the necessary paperwork to establish a guardianship of an alleged disabled person two months prior to the minor's 18th birthday. The Chair asked whether a new guardianship petition is required to be filed or if the guardian may simply file additional documentation with the court. Ms. Parks responded that a new petition would be required because the court must make different findings in a case involving an alleged disabled person. There also are different exhibits required and interested persons that need to be added to the case. For instance, the local Department of Social Services has to be included as an interested party to a guardianship case involving an alleged disabled person.

Judge Eaves moved to add a provision to Rule 10-110 requiring separate guardianship orders for each minor. The motion was seconded. The Chair invited further comment on the motion. The motion was approved by majority vote. By consensus, Rule 10-110 was approved as amended.

The Reporter presented Rule 10-111, Petition for Guardianship of Minor, for consideration.

HANDOUT

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 10 - GUARDIANS AND OTHER FIDUCIARIES

CHAPTER 100 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

AMEND Rule 10-111 by replacing the Note at the top of the form petition with Instructions to clarify which form petition is to be used if a guardianship of a minor is sought and that, with a certain exception, a separate petition must be filed for each minor as to whom a guardianship is sought; by making stylistic changes to sections 5, 6, and 8; and by adding the word "ADDITIONAL" to the heading of the Instructions at the bottom of the form, as follows:

Rule 10-111. PETITION FOR GUARDIANSHIP OF MINOR

A petition for guardianship of a minor shall be in

substantially the following form:

[CAPTION]

In the Matter of

In the _____ Court for

(Name of minor)

(County)

(docket reference)

PETITION FOR GUARDIANSHIP OF MINOR

Note: This form is to be used where the only ground for the petition is minority.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) Use this form of petition when a guardianship of a minor is sought, even if the minor also is disabled.

(2) If the subject of the petition is not a minor, use the form petition set forth in Rule 10-112.

(3) If guardianship of more than one minor is sought, a separate petition must be filed for each minor, except that a petition may include a request for guardianship of two or more similarly situated full siblings. If guardianship of more than one sibling is sought, complete a separate Paragraph 1 for each sibling. In Paragraphs 2-13, if a response does not apply to all siblings, provide the requested information as to each sibling.

(4) If the petition is to be filed in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, use "Baltimore City" as the name of the county.

[]	Guardianship of Person				Guardianship of Person and Property
	The petitioner,	(name)	/(ag	e)	whose address is
			, and whose	telep	none number is
			, represents	to th	ne court that:
	1. The minor				, age,
borr	n on the	day of	(month)		// (year)/
a [] male or []	female chi	ld of		
and					, resides at
			A bi:	rth ce	ertificate of the
minc	or is attached.				
2	2. If the minor o	does not rea	side in the d	count	y in
whic	ch this petition	is filed,	state the pla	ace in	n this county

where the minor is currently located

NOTE: For purposes of this Form, "county" includes Baltimore City.

3. The relationship of petitioner to the minor is _____

4. The minor

[] is a beneficiary of the Veterans Administration and the guardian may expect to receive benefits from that Administration.

[] is not a beneficiary of the Veterans Administration.

5. Complete Section 5- if the petitioner is asking the court to appoint the petitioner as the guardian.

(Check only one of the following boxes)

[] I have not been convicted of a crime listed in Code, Estates and Trusts Article, §11-114.

[] I was convicted of such a crime, namely

The conviction occurred in,	
(year)	
in the,	but
(Name of court)	
the following good cause exists for me to be appointed as	
guardian:	

6. Complete Section 6. if the petitioner is asking the court to appoint an individual other than the petitioner as the guardian.

6 a. Prospective Guardian of the Person (Complete section 6 $a_{\text{-}}$ if seeking guardianship of the person.)

The name of the prospective guardian of the person is

and that individual's age is ______. The relationship of that individual to the minor is _______. (Check <u>only</u> one of the following boxes) []_______ has not been convicted of a crime (Name of prospective guardian) listed in Code, Estates and Trusts Article, §11-114. []_______ was convicted of such a crime, (Name of prospective guardian) namely _______. The conviction occurred in _______, but the (Name of court) following good cause exists for the individual to be appointed as guardian: _______

6 b. Prospective Guardian of the Property (Complete section 6 b. if the prospective guardian of the property is different from the prospective guardian of the person or if guardianship of the person is not sought.)

The name of the prospective guardian of the property is

and that individual's age is _____. The relationship of that individual to the minor is _____. (Check only one of the following boxes) [] _____ has not been convicted of a crime (Name of prospective guardian) listed in Code, Estates and Trusts Article, §11-114. [] _____ was convicted of such a crime, (Name of prospective guardian) namely _____. The conviction occurred in _____ in the _____ _____, but the (Name of court) following good cause exists for the individual to be appointed as guardian: 7. State the name and address of any additional person on whom service shall be made on behalf of the minor, including a

minor who is at least ten years of age: _____

8. The following is a list of the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and e-mail addresses, if known, of all interested persons (see Code, Estates and Trusts Article, §13-

101 (k)).

List of Interested Person	List	of	Interested	Persons
---------------------------	------	----	------------	---------

	Name	Address	E-mail Address (if known)
Parents:			
Siblings:			
Any Other at Law:	Heirs		
Guardian (appointed)	if :		
Any Person Holding a of Attorne the Minor:	Power		
Minor's Attorney:			
Any Other Having <u>Who</u> Responsibi the Minor:	Has Assumed lity for		

Any Government

Agency Paying Benefits to or for the Minor:

Any Person Having an Interest in the Property of the Minor: _____ _____

All Other Persons Exercising Control over the Minor or the Minor's Property: ______

A Person or Agency Eligible to Serve as Guardian of the Person of the Minor:

9. The names and addresses of the persons with whom the minor resided over the past five years, and the approximate dates of the minor's residence with each person are, as follows:

Names	Addresses	Approximate Dates
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
10. Guardian	ship is sought for the for	ollowing reason(s):

•

11. If this Petition is for Guardianship of the Property, the following is the list of all the property in which the minor has any interest including an absolute interest, a joint interest, or an interest less than absolute (e.g. trust, life estate).

<u>Property</u>	<u>Location</u>	Value	<u>Trustee, Custodian,</u> Agent, etc.

12. The petitioner's interest in the property of the minor listed in 11. is _____

13. (a) All other proceedings regarding the minor (including any proceedings in juvenile court) are, as follows:

(b) All proceedings regarding the petitioner and prospective guardian filed in this court or any other court are, as follows:

•

14. All exhibits required by the Instructions below are attached.

WHEREFORE, Petitioner requests that this court issue an order to direct all interested persons to show cause why a guardian of the [] person [] property [] person and property of the minor should not be appointed, and (if applicable) (Name of prospective

guardian)

should not be appointed as the guardian.

Attorney's Signature

Petitioner's Name

Attorney's Name

Address

Telephone Number

E-mail Address

Petitioner solemnly affirms under the penalties of perjury that the contents of this document are true to the best of Petitioner's knowledge, information, and belief.

Petitioner's Name

ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS

- 1. The required exhibits are as follows:
 - (a) A copy of any instrument nominating a guardian [Code, Estates and Trusts Article, §13-701 and Maryland Rule 10-301 (d)];
 - (b) If the petition is for the appointment of a guardian for a minor who is a beneficiary of the Department of Veterans Affairs, a certificate of the Administrator or the Administrator's authorized representative, setting forth the age of the minor as shown by the records of the Veterans Administration, and the fact that appointment of a guardian is a condition precedent to the payment of any moneys due the minor from the Veterans Administration shall be prima facie evidence of the necessity for the appointment [Code, Estates and Trusts Article, §13-802 and Maryland Rule 10-301 (d)].
- 2. Attached additional sheets to answer all the information requested in this petition, if necessary.

Source: This Rule is new.

Rule 10-111 was accompanied by the following Reporter's

note:

A proposed amendment to Rule 10-111 replaces the Note at the top of the form with Instructions that clarify that a guardianship petition pertaining to a minor, including a minor who is disabled, must be filed using the form set forth in Rule 10-111, and not the form set forth in Rule 10-112.

Also, the following stylistic changes are made to sections 5, 6, and 8, and the heading of the Instructions at the bottom of the form. In sections 5 and 6, periods following section numbers are deleted in four places. In section 8, the language "Having" is replaced with "Who Has." The word "ADDITIONAL" is added to the heading of the Instructions at the bottom of the form because the former Note at the top has been replaced with Instructions.

At its April 2019 meeting, the Rules Committee had approved the addition of the sentence to the Instructions at the top of the form:

> "If guardianship of more than one minor is sought, a separate petition must be filed for each minor."

This instruction is revised to conform to the proposed revised amendments to Rule 10-110. All other proposed amendments to Rule 10-111 remain as previously approved.

The Reporter stated that the only change to Rule 10-111, other than the amendments the Committee approved in April, is to the Instructions section. The Instructions set forth which form petition is required when guardianship of a minor is sought. She noted that the Instructions are subject to changes by the Style Subcommittee. There being no motion to amend or reject the proposed Rule, it was approved as presented.

Agenda Item 3. Consideration of proposed amendments to Rule 9-203 (Financial Statements).

Judge Eaves presented Rule 9-203, Financial Statements, for consideration.

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE

TITLE 9 - FAMILY LAW ACTIONS

CHAPTER 200 - DIVORCE, ANNULMENT, ALIMONY,

CHILD SUPPORT, AND CHILD CUSTODY

AMEND Rule 9-203 (b) by revising the definition of "Extraordinary Medical Expenses," as follows:

Rule 9-203. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

• • •

(b) Financial Statement--Child Support Guidelines

If the establishment or modification of child support in accordance with the guidelines set forth in Code, Family Law Article, §§ 12-201--12-204 is the only support issue in the action and no party claims an amount of support outside of the guidelines, the financial statement required by section (f) of Rule 9-202 shall be in substantially the following form:

[caption of case]

FINANCIAL STATEMENT

(Child Support Guidelines)

I, _____, state that:

My name

I am the

State Relationship (for example, mother, father, aunt, grandfather, guardian, etc.)

of the minor child(ren), including children who have not attained the age of 19 years, are not married or selfsupporting, and are enrolled in secondary school:

Date of Date of Name Name Birth Birth Date of Date of Name Name Birth Birth Date of Date of Name Name Birth Birth

The following is a list of my income and expenses (see below*):

See definitions on other side before filling out.

Total monthly income (before taxes) Child support I am paying for my other child(ren) each month

Alimony I am paying each month to

(Name of

\$

Person(s))

Alimony I am receiving each month from

(Name of Person(s))

For the child or children listed above:

The monthly health insurance premium Work-related monthly child care expenses Extraordinary monthly medical expenses School and transportation expenses

* To figure the monthly amount of expenses, weekly expenses should be multiplied by 4.3 and yearly expenses should be divided by 12. If you do not pay the same amount each month for any of the categories listed, figure what your average monthly expense is.

I solemnly affirm under the penalties of perjury that the contents of the foregoing paper are true to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Signature

Total Monthly Income: Include income from all sources including self-employment, rent, royalties, business income, salaries, wages, commissions, bonuses, dividends, pensions, interest, trusts, annuities, social security benefits, workers compensation, unemployment benefits, disability benefits, alimony or maintenance received, tips, income from side jobs, severance pay, capital gains, gifts, prizes, lottery winnings, etc. Do not report benefits from means-tested public assistance programs, such as food stamps or AFDC.

Extraordinary Medical Expenses: Uninsured expenses over \$100 for a single illness or condition in excess of \$250 in a calendar year for medical treatment, including orthodontia, dental treatment, vision care, asthma treatment, physical therapy, treatment for any chronic health problems, and professional counseling or psychiatric therapy for diagnosed mental disorders.

Child Care Expenses: Actual child care expenses incurred on behalf of a child due to employment or job search of either parent with amount to be determined by actual experience or the level required to provide quality care from a licensed source.

School and Transportation Expenses: Any expenses for attending a special or private elementary or secondary school to meet the particular needs of the child and expenses for transportation of the child between the homes of the parents.

• • •

Source: This Rule is new.

Rule 9-203 was accompanied by the following Reporter's

note:

The proposed amendment to Rule 9-203 (b) revises the definition of "Extraordinary Medical Expenses" to conform to Chapter 436, 2019 Laws of Maryland (HB 742).

Date

Judge Eaves said that the General Assembly amended the definition of "Extraordinary Medical Expenses" in Code, Family Law Article, \$12-201 (g)(1). The current definition includes "uninsured expenses over \$100 for a single illness or condition." The new definition is "uninsured costs for medical treatment in excess of \$250 in any calendar year." Vision care also is now included as an extraordinary medical expense. Those changes are reflected in the amendments to the Financial Statement form provided in Rule 9-203.

The Chair called for comments on Rule 9-203. There being no motion to amend or reject the proposed Rule, it was approved as presented.

Agenda Item 4. Consideration of proposed amendments to Rule 2-645 (Garnishment of Property) and Rule 3-645 (Garnishment of Property).

The Chair presented Rules 2-645, Garnishment of Property, and 3-634, Garnishment of Property, for consideration.

> MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 2 - CIVIL PROCEDURE - CIRCUIT COURT CHAPTER 600 - JUDGMENT

AMEND Rule 2-645 by adding language to subsection (c)(2) requiring a writ of garnishment of property to direct the

garnishee to hold the property of each judgment debtor in its possession, subject to further proceedings or to termination of the writ; by adding subsection (c)(6) requiring that the writ of garnishment notify the judgment debtor that the garnishee may file a notice of intent to terminate the garnishment 120 days or more after the garnishee files an answer, if no further filings concerning the writ of garnishment are made with the court; by making stylistic changes to section (k); and by adding subsection (k)(2) establishing a process by which a garnishee may terminate a writ of garnishment, as follows:

Rule 2-645. GARNISHMENT OF PROPERTY-GENERALLY

(a) Availability

Subject to the provisions of Rule 2-645.1, this Rule governs garnishment of any property of the judgment debtor, other than wages subject to Rule 2-646 and a partnership interest subject to a charging order, in the hands of a third person for the purpose of satisfying a money judgment. Property includes any debt owed to the judgment debtor, whether immediately payable or unmatured.

(b) Issuance of Writ

The judgment creditor may obtain issuance of a writ of garnishment by filing in the same action in which the judgment was entered a request that contains (1) the caption of the action, (2) the amount owed under the judgment, (3) the name and last known address of each judgment debtor with respect to whom a writ is requested, and (4) the name and address of the garnishee. Upon the filing of the request, the clerk shall issue a writ of garnishment directed to the garnishee.

(c) Content

The writ of garnishment shall:

(1) contain the information in the request, the name and address of the person requesting the writ, and the date of issue,

(2) direct the garnishee to hold, subject to further proceedings <u>or to</u> <u>termination of the writ</u>, the property of each judgment debtor in the possession of the garnishee at the time of service of the writ and all property of each debtor that may come into the garnishee's possession after service of the writ,

(3) notify the garnishee of the time within which the answer must be filed and that the failure to do so may result in judgment by default against the garnishee,

(4) notify the judgment debtor and garnishee that federal and state exemptions may be available,

(5) notify the judgment debtor of the right to contest the garnishment by filing a motion asserting a defense or objection., and

(6) notify the judgment debtor that, if the garnishee files an answer pursuant to section (e) of this Rule and no further filings concerning the writ of garnishment are made with the court within 120 days following the filing of the answer, the garnishee may file a notice of intent to terminate the writ of garnishment pursuant to subsection (k) (2) of this Rule.

Committee note: A writ of garnishment may direct a garnishee to hold the property of more than one judgment debtor if the name and address of each judgment debtor whose property is sought to be attached is stated in the writ.

(d) Service

The writ shall be served on the garnishee in the manner provided by Chapter 100 of this Title for service of process to obtain personal jurisdiction and may be served in or outside the county. Promptly after service upon the garnishee, the person making service shall mail a copy of the writ to the judgment debtor's last known address. Proof of service and mailing shall be filed as provided in Rule 2-126. Subsequent pleadings and papers shall be served on the creditor, debtor, and garnishee in the manner provided by Rule 1-321.

(e) Answer of Garnishee

The garnishee shall file an answer within the time provided by Rule 2-321. The answer shall admit or deny that the garnishee is indebted to the judgment debtor or has possession of property of the judgment debtor and shall specify the amount and nature of any debt and describe any property. The garnishee may assert any defense that the garnishee may have to the garnishment, as well as any defense that the judgment debtor could assert. After answering, the garnishee may pay any garnished indebtedness into court and may deliver to the sheriff any garnished property, which shall then be treated as if levied upon by the sheriff. A garnishee who has filed an answer admitting indebtedness to the judgment debtor or possession of property of the judgment debtor is not required to file an amended answer solely because of an increase in the garnishee's indebtedness to the judgment debtor or the garnishee's receipt of additional property of the debtor.

(f) When No Answer Filed

If the garnishee fails to file a timely answer, the judgment creditor may proceed pursuant to Rule 2-613 for a judgment by default against the garnishee.

(g) When Answer Filed

If the garnishee files a timely answer, the matters set forth in the answer shall be treated as established for the purpose of the garnishment proceeding unless the judgment creditor files a reply contesting the answer within 30 days after its service. If a timely reply is not filed, the court may enter judgment upon request of the judgment creditor, the judgment debtor, or the garnishee. If a timely reply is filed to the answer of the garnishee, the matter shall proceed as if it were an original action between the judgment creditor as plaintiff and the garnishee as defendant and shall be governed by the rules applicable to civil actions.

(h) Interrogatories to Garnishee

The judgment creditor may serve interrogatories directed to the garnishee pursuant to Rule 2-421. The interrogatories shall contain a notice to the garnishee that, unless answers are served within 30 days after service of the interrogatories or within the time for filing an answer to the writ, whichever is later, the garnishee may be held in contempt of court. The interrogatories shall also inform the garnishee that the garnishee must file a notice with the court pursuant to Rule 2-401 (d) at the time the answers are served. If the garnishee fails to serve timely answers to interrogatories, the court, upon petition of the judgment creditor and proof of service of the interrogatories, may enter an order in compliance with Rule 15-206 treating the failure to answer as a contempt and may require the garnishee to pay reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

(i) Release of Property; Claim by Third Person

Before entry of judgment, the judgment debtor may seek release of the garnished property in accordance with Rule 2-643, except that a motion under Rule 2-643 (d) shall be filed within 30 days after service of the writ of garnishment on the garnishee. Before entry of judgment, a third person claimant of the garnished property may proceed in accordance with Rule 2-643
(e).

(j) Judgment

The judgment against the garnishee shall be for the amount admitted plus any amount that has come into the hands of the garnishee after service of the writ and before the judgment is entered, but not to exceed the amount owed under the creditor's judgment against the debtor and enforcement costs.

(k) Termination of Writ

(1) Upon Entry of Judgment

Upon entry of a judgment against the garnishee pursuant to section (j) of this Rule, the writ of garnishment and the lien created by the writ shall terminate and the garnishee shall be under no obligation to hold any additional property of the debtor that may come into its possession after the judgment was entered.

(2) By the Garnishee

If the garnishee has filed an answer and no further filing concerning the writ of garnishment is made within 120 days after the filing of the answer, the garnishee may file, at any time 120 days or more after the filing of the answer, a notice of intent to terminate the writ of garnishment. The notice shall (A) contain a statement that a party may object to termination of the writ by filing a response within 30 days after service of the notice and (B) be served on the judgment debtor and the judgment creditor. If no response is filed within 30 days after service of the notice, the garnishee may file a termination of the garnishment, which shall release the garnishee from any further obligation to hold any property of the debtor. Committee note: The methods of termination of a writ of garnishment provided in section

```
(k) of this Rule are not exclusive. Section
(k) does not preclude a garnishee or other
party from filing a motion to seek an order
of court terminating a writ of garnishment
on any other appropriate basis.
```

(1) Statement of Satisfaction

Upon satisfaction by the garnishee of a judgment entered against it pursuant to section (j) of this Rule, the judgment creditor shall file a statement of satisfaction setting forth the amount paid. If the judgment creditor fails to file the statement of satisfaction, the garnishee may proceed under Rule 2-626.

Source: This Rule is derived as follows:

Section (a) is new but is consistent with former Rules G47 a and G50 a.

Section (b) is new.

Section (c) is new.

Section (d) is in part derived from former Rules F6 c and 104 a (4) and is in part new.

Section (e) is in part new and in part derived from former Rule G52 a and b.

Section (f) is new.

Section (g) is new.

Section (h) is derived from former Rule G56.

Section (i) is new.

Section (j) is new.

Section (k) is new.

Section (1) is new.

Rule 2-645 was accompanied by the following Reporter's

note:

Attorneys on behalf of the Maryland Bankers Association and practitioners who

engage in collection actions have advised the Judgments Subcommittee that hundreds of garnishment of property proceedings remain stagnant well after an answer to the writ of garnishment is filed by the garnishee. The writs remain unresolved because neither the judgment creditor nor the judgment debtor nor the garnishee seeks further resolution of the matter. Amendments to Rules 2-645 and 3-645 establish an identical process, in the District Court and the circuit courts, by which a writ of garnishment of property may be terminated by the garnishee subject to the writ. The following proposed amendments have been incorporated in both Rule 2-645 and Rule 3-645:

Proposed amendments to subsection (c)(2) require that additional language be contained in a writ of garnishment of property. Specifically, the writ must direct the garnishee to hold, subject to further proceedings "or to termination of the writ," the property of each judgment debtor in the possession of the garnishee at the time of service of the writ and all property of each debtor that may come into the garnishee's possession after service of the writ.

New subsection (c) (6) requires that a writ of garnishment of property notify the judgment debtor that, if the garnishee files an answer to the writ and no further filings concerning the writ are made with the court within 120 days following the filing of the answer, the garnishee may file a notice of intent to terminate the writ of garnishment pursuant to subsection (k) (2). The proposed time period of 120 days is the same time period provided in Rule 2-643 (c) (6) for the court to order the release of property from a levy if there has been no sale of the levied property.

Current section (k) is proposed to be divided into two new subsections. Subsection (k)(1) contains the current language of

section (k), which addresses termination of the writ upon entry of judgment. Subsection (k)(2) sets forth a new process by which a garnishee may terminate a writ of garnishment.

Subsection (k) (2) authorizes the garnishee to file a notice of intent to terminate the garnishment, if the garnishee has filed an answer and no further filing concerning the writ of garnishment is made within 120 days thereafter. The notice of intent to terminate the garnishment is required to contain a statement that a party may object to termination of the writ by filing a response within 30 days after service of the notice. Accordingly, the notice is required to be served upon the judgment debtor and judgment creditor.

Subsection (k) (2) further authorizes the garnishee to file a termination of the garnishment, which will release the garnishee from any further obligation to hold any property of the debtor, provided that no response to the notice is filed within 30 days after service of the notice. On the other hand, if a response to the garnishee's notice of intent to terminate the garnishment is filed, then the garnishee may not file a termination of the garnishment.

The proposed Committee note following section (k) makes clear that the methods of terminating a garnishment set forth in section (k) is not exclusive, and that section (k) does not preclude a garnishee or other party from filing a motion to seek an order of court terminating a writ of garnishment on any other appropriate basis.

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 3 - CIVIL PROCEDURE - DISTRICT COURT

CHAPTER 600 - JUDGMENT

AMEND Rule 3-645 by adding language to subsection (c)(2) requiring a writ of garnishment of property to direct the garnishee to hold the property of each judgment debtor in its possession, subject to further proceedings or to termination of the writ; by adding subsection (c)(6) requiring that the writ of garnishment notify the judgment debtor that the garnishee may file a notice of intent to terminate the garnishment 120 days or more after the garnishee files an answer, if no further filings concerning the writ of garnishment are made with the court; by making stylistic changes to section (k); and by adding subsection (k)(2) establishing a process by which a garnishee may terminate a writ of garnishment, as follows:

Rule 3-645. GARNISHMENT OF PROPERTY-GENERALLY

(a) Availability

Subject to the provisions of Rule 3-645.1, this Rule governs garnishment of any property of the judgment debtor, other than wages subject to Rule 3-646 and a partnership interest subject to a charging order, in the hands of a third person for the purpose of satisfying a money judgment. Property includes any debt owed to the judgment debtor, whether immediately payable or unmatured.

(b) Issuance of Writ

The judgment creditor may obtain issuance of a writ of garnishment by filing in the same action in which the judgment was entered a request that contains (1) the caption of the action, (2) the amount owed under the judgment, (3) the name and last known address of each judgment debtor with respect to whom a writ is requested, and (4) the name and address of the garnishee. Upon the filing of the request, the clerk shall issue a writ of garnishment directed to the garnishee.

(c) Content

The writ of garnishment shall:

(1) contain the information in the request, the name and address of the person requesting the writ, and the date of issue,

(2) direct the garnishee to hold, subject to further proceedings <u>or to</u> <u>termination of the writ</u>, the property of each judgment debtor in the possession of the garnishee at the time of service of the writ and all property of each debtor that may come into the garnishee's possession after service of the writ,

(3) notify the garnishee of the time within which the answer must be filed and that failure to do so may result in judgment by default against the garnishee,

(4) notify the judgment debtor and garnishee that federal and state exemptions may be available,

(5) notify the judgment debtor of the right to contest the garnishment by filing a motion asserting a defense or objection. $_{\underline{\prime}}$ and

(6) notify the judgment debtor that, if the garnishee files an answer pursuant to section (e) of this Rule and no further filings concerning the writ of garnishment are made with the court within 120 days following the filing of the answer, the garnishee may file a notice of intent to terminate the writ of garnishment pursuant to subsection (k) (2) of this Rule.

Committee note: A writ of garnishment may direct a garnishee to hold the property of more than one judgment debtor if the name and address of each judgment debtor whose property is sought to be attached is stated in the writ.

(d) Service

The writ shall be served on the garnishee in the manner provided by Chapter 100 of this Title for service of process to obtain personal jurisdiction and may be served in or outside the county. Promptly after service upon the garnishee, the person making service shall mail a copy of the writ to the judgment debtor's last known address. Proof of service and mailing shall be filed as provided in Rule 3-126. Subsequent pleadings and papers shall be served on the creditor, debtor, and garnishee in the manner provided by Rule 1-321.

(e) Answer of Garnishee

The garnishee shall file an answer within 30 days after service of the writ. The answer shall admit or deny that the garnishee is indebted to the judgment debtor or has possession of property of the judgment debtor and shall specify the amount and nature of any debt and describe any property. The garnishee may assert any defense that the garnishee may have to the garnishment, as well as any defense that the judgment debtor could assert. After answering, the garnishee may pay any garnished indebtedness into court and may deliver to the sheriff any garnished property, which shall then be treated as if levied upon by the sheriff. A garnishee who has filed an answer admitting indebtedness to the judgment debtor or possession of property of the judgment debtor is not required to file an amended answer solely because of an increase in the garnishee's indebtedness to the judgment debtor or the garnishee's receipt of additional property of the debtor.

(f) When No Answer Filed

If the garnishee fails to file a timely answer, the judgment creditor may

proceed pursuant to Rule 3-509 for a judgment by default against the garnishee.

(g) When Answer Filed

If the garnishee files a timely answer, the matters set forth in the answer shall be treated as established for the purpose of the garnishment proceeding unless the judgment creditor files a reply contesting the answer within 30 days after its service. If a timely reply is not filed, the court may enter judgment upon request of the judgment creditor, the judgment debtor, or the garnishee. If a timely reply is filed to the answer of the garnishee, the matter shall proceed as if it were an original action between the judgment creditor as plaintiff and the garnishee as defendant and shall be governed by the rules applicable to civil actions.

(h) Interrogatories to Garnishee

The judgment creditor may serve interrogatories directed to the garnishee pursuant to Rule 3-421. The interrogatories shall contain a notice to the garnishee that, unless answers are served within 30 days after service of the interrogatories or within the time for filing an answer to the writ, whichever is later, the garnishee may be held in contempt of court. The interrogatories shall also inform the garnishee that the garnishee must file a notice with the court pursuant to Rule 3-401 (b). If the garnishee fails to serve timely answers to interrogatories, the court, upon petition of the judgment creditor and proof of service of the interrogatories, may enter an order in compliance with Rule 15-206 treating the failure to answer as a contempt and may require the garnishee to pay reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

(i) Release of Property; Claim by Third Person

Before entry of judgment, the judgment debtor may seek release of the

garnished property in accordance with Rule 3-643, except that a motion under Rule 3-643 (d) shall be filed within 30 days after service of the writ of garnishment on the garnishee. Before entry of judgment, a third person claimant of the garnished property may proceed in accordance with Rule 3-643 (e).

(j) Judgment

The judgment against the garnishee shall be for the amount admitted plus any amount that has come into the hands of the garnishee after service of the writ and before the judgment is entered, but not to exceed the amount owed under the creditor's judgment against the debtor and enforcement costs.

(k) Termination of Writ

(1) Upon Entry of Judgment

Upon entry of a judgment against the garnishee pursuant to section (j) of this Rule, the writ of garnishment and the lien created by the writ shall terminate and the garnishee shall be under no obligation to hold any additional property of the debtor that may come into its possession after the judgment was entered.

(2) By the Garnishee

If the garnishee has filed an answer and no further filing concerning the writ of garnishment is made within 120 days after the filing of the answer, the garnishee may file, at any time 120 days or more after the filing of the answer, a notice of intent to terminate the writ of garnishment. The notice shall (A) contain a statement that a party may object to termination of the writ by filing a response within 30 days after service of the notice and (B) be served on the judgment debtor and the judgment creditor. If no response is filed within 30 days after service of the notice, the garnishee may file a termination of the garnishment, which shall release the garnishee from any further obligation to hold any property of the debtor.

Committee note: The methods of termination of a writ of garnishment provided in section (k) of this Rule are not exclusive. Section (k) does not preclude a garnishee or other party from filing a motion to seek an order of court terminating a writ of garnishment on any other appropriate basis.

(1) Statement of Satisfaction

Upon satisfaction by the garnishee of a judgment entered against it pursuant to section (j) of this Rule, the judgment creditor shall file a statement of satisfaction setting forth the amount paid. If the judgment creditor fails to file the statement of satisfaction, the garnishee may proceed under Rule 3-626.

Source: This Rule is derived as follows:

Section (a) is new but is consistent with former M.D.R. G47 a and G50 a.

Section (b) is new.

Section (c) is new.

Section (d) is in part derived from former M.D.R. F6 c and 104 a (iii) and is in part new.

Section (e) is in part new and in part derived from former M.D.R. G52 a and b.

Section (f) is new.

Section (g) is new.

Section (h) is derived from former M.D.R. G56.

Section (i) is new.

Section (j) is new.

Section (k) is new.

Section (1) is new.

Rule 3-645 was accompanied by the following Reporter's note:

See the Reporter's note to Rule 2-645.

The Chair said that the two Rules in Agenda Item 3 govern the circuit court and District Court garnishment processes. He invited Marjorie Corwin, an attorney at Gordon Feinblatt, LLC, to address the Committee.

Ms. Corwin said that she is present on behalf of the Maryland Bankers Association ("the Association"). She explained that the primary garnishees of property are banks served with writs of garnishment. The bank is obligated by law to file an answer to the writ indicating whether the bank is holding any property belonging to the judgment debtor. Once served with a writ of garnishment, the garnishee holding the property of a judgment debtor must continue to hold the debtor's property and any additional property of the debtor that the garnishee comes to possess until the court orders otherwise. Ms. Corwin informed the Committee that there are hundreds of garnishment answers filed by banks in cases that have become stale. In many instances, the bank files an answer and is legally required to hold the judgment debtor's property, but no party takes further action in the case.

48

Ms. Corwin said that the proposed amendments to Rules 2-645 and 3-645 establish a process whereby if no individual who has an interest in the garnishment files anything for four months after the garnishee files an answer to the writ, the garnishee may seek to terminate the writ. If no further filings are made for another 30 days, then the garnishee may file a notice to terminate the garnishment. The notice will release the hold on the debtor's property.

The Chair invited comments on the Rules 2-645 and 3-645. There being no motion to amend or reject the proposed amendments, the Rules were approved as presented.

Agenda Item 5. Consideration of proposed new Rule 3-623 (Recording of Foreign Judgments) and Rule 3-632 (Stay of Enforcement).

Judge Wilson presented Rules 3-623, Recording of Foreign Judgments, and 3-632, Stay of Enforcement, for consideration.

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 3 - CIVIL PROCEDURE - DISTRICT COURT CHAPTER 600 - JUDGMENT

ADD new Rule 3-623, as follows:

Rule 3-623. RECORDING OF FOREIGN JUDGMENTS

(a) Generally

Subject to section (b) of this Rule, upon receiving for recordation a copy of a foreign judgment, as defined by Code, Courts Article, \$11-801, that is certified or authenticated in accordance with these rules or statutes of this State, or of the United States, the clerk shall record and index the judgment. Upon recording a foreign judgment received from a person other than the clerk of the court of entry, the receiving clerk shall notify the clerk of the court of entry.

Cross reference: For the authority to file a foreign judgment in the District Court, see Code, Courts Article, §11-802 (a)(1)(ii) and (iii).

(b) Affidavit and Notice Requirements

At the time a foreign judgment is filed, the judgment creditor shall file an affidavit in compliance with Code, Courts Article, §11-803 (a). Upon receipt of the affidavit, the clerk shall mail to the judgment debtor the notice required by Code, Courts Article, §11-803 (b) and make a docket entry notation of the mailing.

Cross reference: For enforcement of foreign judgments, see Code, Courts Article, §§ 11-801 through 11-807. For provisions governing the stay of enforcement of a judgment, see Rule 3-632.

Source: This Rule is new.

Rule 3-623 was accompanied by the following Reporter's

note:

New Rule 3-623 is proposed in conjunction with proposed amendments to Rule 2-623, which governs the recording of a judgment of another court in a circuit court. Section (a) of Rule 3-623 sets forth the procedure for recording foreign judgments filed in the District Court, as authorized by Code, Courts Article, \$11-802 (a)(1)(i) and (ii).

Section (b) implements the affidavit and notice requirements for foreign judgments pursuant to Code, Courts Article, \$11-803 of the Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act.

MARYLAND RULES OF PROCEDURE TITLE 3 - CIVIL PROCEDURE - DISTRICT COURT CHAPTER 600 - JUDGMENT

AMEND Rule 3-632 by adding new section (f) clarifying that a stay of enforcement of a foreign judgment is governed by Code, Courts Article, §11-804; by re-lettering current section (f) as new section (g); and by updating the source note, as follows:

Rule 3-632. STAY OF ENFORCEMENT

(a) Automatic

Except as otherwise provided in this Rule, enforcement of a money judgment is automatically stayed until the expiration of ten days after its entry. Cross reference: For the definition of "money judgment," see Rule 1-202.

(b) Discretionary

In its discretion and on such conditions for the security of the adverse party as are proper, the court may stay enforcement of a judgment pending the disposition of a motion for a new trial filed pursuant to Rule 3-533, a motion to alter or amend a judgment filed pursuant to Rule 3-534, or a motion to revise a judgment filed pursuant to Rule 3-535.

(c) Multiple Claims

When a court has entered a final judgment under the conditions stated in Rule 3-602, the court may stay enforcement of that judgment until the entering of a subsequent judgment and may prescribe such conditions as are necessary to secure the benefit of the judgment to the party in whose favor the judgment is entered.

(d) Pending Appeal

Except as provided in this section and in section (e) of this Rule, a stay pending appeal is governed by the procedures set forth in Rules 8-422 through 8-424. References in those rules to the Court of Special Appeals shall be regarded as references to the circuit court having jurisdiction of the appeal. If the court determines that because of the nature of the action enforcement of the judgment should not be stayed by the filing of a supersedeas bond or other security, it may enter an order denying a stay or permitting a stay only on the terms stated in the order.

(e) Injunction Pending Appeal

When an appeal is taken from an order or a judgment granting, dissolving, or denying an injunction, the court in its discretion may suspend, modify, restore, or grant an injunction during the pendency of the appeal upon such terms as to bond or otherwise as it considers proper for the security of the adverse party.

(f) Foreign Judgment

A stay of enforcement of a foreign judgment as defined in Code, Courts Article, §11-801 is governed by Code, Courts Article, §11-804. (f) (g) Power of Appellate Court Not Limited

The provisions of this Rule do not limit any power of an appellate court to stay proceedings during the pendency of an appeal or to suspend, modify, restore, or grant an injunction during the pendency of an appeal or to make any order appropriate to preserve the status quo or the effectiveness of the judgment subsequently to be entered.

Cross reference: For provisions concerning stays of judgments in municipal infraction cases, see Code, Article 23A, § 3(b)(7).

Source: This Rule is derived as follows:

Section (a) is derived from the 1961 version of Fed. R. Civ. P. 62 (a).

Section (b) is derived from the 1961 version of Fed. R. Civ. P. 62 (b).

Section (c) is derived from former M.D.R. 605 b and the 1961 version of Fed. R. Civ. P. 62 (h).

Section (d) is in part new and in part derived from former Rule 1017 e.

Section (e) is derived from the 1961 version of Fed. R. Civ. P. 62 (c).

Section (f) is new.

Section (f) (g) is derived from the 1961 version of Fed. R. Civ. P. 62 (g).

Rule 3-632 was accompanied by the following Reporter's

note:

Amendments to Rule 3-632 are proposed in conjunction with proposed new Rule 3-623, which governs the recording of foreign judgments in the District Court. Proposed amendments to Rule 3-632 make clear that a stay of enforcement of a foreign judgment, as defined in Code, Courts Article, §11-801 is governed by Code, Courts Article, §11-804.

Judge Wilson informed the Committee that at the May 2019 Rules Committee meeting, amendments to the circuit court Rule governing foreign judgments were approved. During the discussion about the circuit court Rules, a discussion arose about the absence of a parallel Rule at for District Court. The Rules Committee decided to have the District Court Subcommittee propose a new Rule governing foreign judgments that are recorded in the District Court. She said that Rule 3-623 partially tracks circuit court Rule 2-623. Rule 3-623 applies to the recording of foreign judgments at the District Court and includes the notice and affidavit requirements that are codified at Code, Courts Article, §11-803.

The Chair invited comment on Rule 3-623. There being no motion to amend or reject the proposed Rule, it was approved as presented.

Judge Wilson said that Rule 3-632 governs the stay of enforcement of judgment at the District Court level. The proposed amendment clarifies that the stay of enforcement of a foreign judgment is governed by Code, Courts Article, §11-804.

54

The Chair invited comments on Rule 3-632. There being no motion to amend or reject the proposed Rule, it was approved as presented.

There being no further business before the Committee, the meeting was adjourned.